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This is my first opportunity to comment on the annual progress report on the New Zealand Disability Strategy as the newly elected President of the Disabled Persons Assembly (DPA). 
New Zealand has now ratified the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. This landmark action will make a real difference for disabled people everywhere when it is implemented in a meaningful way.

Our experience of the implementation of the New Zealand Disability Strategy raises our expectations for the implementation of the UN Convention. Since the launch of the New Zealand Disability Strategy in 2001 many activities have been implemented. 

 
We hope that this momentum will accelerate and that all the objectives in the New Zealand Disability Strategy can make a real difference in the lives of disabled people and their families/whänau. 

Our involvement with development of the UN Convention has taught us that we are viewed as constructive partners.

Not only does it mean that improvements to support are more likely to fit the needs of the people requiring them, but it will also mean that improvements will take less time to develop.

We look forward to working in partnership to help realise all the rights and opportunities that come from enabling disabled people to live as full citizens.
Eamon Daly

President

Disabled Persons Assembly

Introduction

The New Zealand Disability Strategy is Government’s commitment to improve the lives of disable people in New Zealand. Since the Disability Strategy was launched in 2001, a great deal has been done to realise its vision and achieve its fifteen objectives. 

This year’s progress report, Work in Progress 2008, contains selected highlights of government agencies’ achievements against the fifteen objectives during the year from 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2008.  The full report from each agency is available to read on the Office for Disability Issues website www.odi.govt.nz
Some notable achievements in this year’s report include:

· A government-private sector partnership to establish an Employers’ Disability Network - an employer owned and run organisation to support employers’ understanding of disabled people, help more people into work and improve services to disabled customers.

· Changes, as part of the Working New Zealand programme, to increase the rates of employment for disabled people and people with ill health on benefits.
· Launching of the Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline, which provides a firm evidence-base for effective services and support for people with ASD.

· Sustained and increasing effort across government to make buildings, websites, services and information accessible for disabled people, including staff.

For future reports we will move to documenting achievements against multi-year plans. To achieve this, work is underway on developing a framework for longer-term planning and reporting against the Disability Strategy which makes targets and achievements more transparent in priority areas. Information and data from the Disability Survey and other sources will feed into this work as we strive to report on real changes in life outcomes for disabled people.

Jan Scown

Director

Office for Disability Issues

Vision and Objectives
Underpinning the New Zealand Disability Strategy is a vision of a fully inclusive society that highly values the lives of disabled people and their full participation in all spheres of life.

To move New Zealand towards that vision, the fifteen objectives of the New Zealand Disability Strategy reflect the priority areas that are critical in improving life outcomes for disabled people. 
	Vision
	A society that highly values the lives of disabled people and continually enhances their full participation.



	Objective 1
	Encourage and educate for a non-disabling society.

	Objective 2
	Ensure rights for disabled people.

	Objective 3
	Provide the best education for disabled people.

	Objective 4
	Provide opportunities in employment and economic development for disabled people. 

	Objective 5
	Foster leadership by disabled people.

	Objective 6
	Foster an aware and responsive public service.

	Objective 7
	Create long-term support systems centred on the individual.

	Objective 8
	Support quality living in the community for disabled people.

	Objective 9
	Support life style choices, recreation and culture for disabled people.

	Objective 10
	Collect and use relevant information about disabled people and disability issues.

	Objective 11
	Promote participation of disabled Māori.

	Objective 12
	Promote participation of disabled Pacific people.

	Objective 13
	Enable disabled children and youth to lead full and active lives.

	Objective 14
	Promote participation of disabled women in order to improve their quality of life.


	Objective 15
	Value families, whānau and people providing ongoing support.


Progress highlights for 2007 – 2008

Objective 1:  Encourage and educate for a non-disabling society  

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Ministry of Social Development

www.msd.govt.nz

	Employers’ Disability Network
	To develop an Employers’ Disability Network to support employers’ understanding of disabled people, help more people into work and improve services to disabled customers.


	The Ministry of Social Development has supported the establishment of the Employers Disability Network by providing a project manager, and secretariat support to the  steering group overseeing the project.  The steering group includes: Accident Compensation Corporation; Business New Zealand; Department of Labour; Disabled Persons Assembly; Equal Employment Opportunity Trust; Ministry of Social Development; New Zealand Chambers of Commerce; New Zealand Council of Trade Unions; Office for Disability Issues [Chair]; State Services Commission and Workbridge.  Initial networking events have been held for employers in Auckland, hosted by the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, and in Wellington, hosted by Business New Zealand. 

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Health

www.moh.govt.nz

	Multi-agency Plan
	To help address the stigma and discrimination associated with mental illness.
	A group comprised of Like Minds, Mental Health Commission, Human Rights Commission, Office for Disability Issues, Health and Disability Commission, Mental Health Foundation, and the Regional Consumer Networks met three monthly. A terms of reference and work plan for the next three years was developed.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Education

www.minedu.govt.nz

	Vision to support students with special needs
	To ensure all education providers have the capacity and capability to effectively support students with special education needs.
	Provided a range of special education services to over 30,000 children and families, and support and services to schools, early childhood education centres, parents and whānau.

	
	Sign Language (NZSL) Act Implementation Plan
	To progress implementation of the Ministry’s five year plan (developed in 2005) for the New Zealand Sign Language Act focusing on four key areas:

· communication and awareness

· workforce development

· access to learning through NZSL

· other issues related to principles of the NZSL Act.
	Communication and Awareness

· policy guidelines for use by Ministry staff when developing information or communications are being prepared and will include the use of accessible formats, including NZSL, for Deaf and hearing impaired audiences 

· a Family Book containing information and resources on educational issues has been produced by Deaf Education Aotearoa New Zealand (DEANZ) and the National Audiology Centre (NAC) for distribution to all family/whanau of Deaf and hearing impaired children 
· involvement in Deaf Awareness Week and funded Deaf Education Centres to produce resources.

Workforce Development

· offered scholarships to encourage fluent Te Reo speakers to train as tri-lingual NZSL/English/Te Reo interpreters

· conducted specialist teacher review to ensure specialist teachers are well trained and engaged in continuing professional learning.

Access to learning through NZSL

· increased training programmes availability and accessibility (eg – distance learning packages and video conferencing learning opportunities) 

· progressed work to make NZSL available as a curriculum subject. A NZSL webpage is part of www.tki.org.nz  (learning languages kete) 

· established a Deaf resource centre at a tertiary institute.

	 
	Contact with disability sector


	To have regular consultation with the disability sector and to ensure consumers (parents and students) are represented.


	Held Deaf education forums and regular consultation with IHC and CCS Disability Action.

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) consumer groups consulted on ASD Guideline work. 

Relationship established with DEANZ regarding service provision (national plan). Working with DEANZ and wider deaf education sector on a strategic plan for deaf education. Deaf education sector representatives involved in mainstream curriculum development.

 Ongoing consultation and engagement with the Blind and Low Vision sector through a joint ministry and Blind and Low Vision Network New Zealand working group. 

Deaf Education sector contract has been let which provides for organisations with an interest in Deaf education to meet twice a year to share information and discuss relevant issues with Ministry officials. 

	
	
	
	

	ACC

www.acc.co.nz




	Memorandum of Understanding with the Deaf Association of New Zealand
	To develop a Memorandum of Understanding to improve access by Deaf people to Sign Language interpreters and other relevant services.
	The Memorandum of Understanding was signed on 26 May 2008.


Objective 2:  Ensure rights for disabled people 

	Agency
	Project
	Project aim
	Achievement

	Inland Revenue

www.ird.govt.nz

	Nominate agent
	To undertake a review of procedures so that disabled people will be able to nominate someone to act on their behalf.  
	The review is progressing and has involved consultation with disabled people. The review and implementation plan are expected to be completed in December 2008.

	
	
	
	

	Department of Building and Housing

www.dbh.govt.nz

	Code of practice:

retirement villages
	To include a disability perspective in developing the Retirement Villages Code of Practice for residents and operators. 
	The Retirement Villages Code of Practice 2008 was developed after a 9-week consultation period. The resulting Code of Practice outlines the rights and obligations of retirement village residents and operators and contains information that improves consumer protection, and provides a minimum standard that all retirement village operators must meet or exceed. Clause 44 enables residents of retirement villages who develop impairments to adapt their residential unit to meet their needs.  

	
	
	
	

	NZ Police

www.police.govt.nz

	Human rights training
	To hold training for staff to fulfil their responsibilities in helping NZ Police comply with and apply the wider intent of the Human Rights Act 1993 and human rights principles. 
	At 20 May 2008, 7,283 NZ Police employees have completed Human Rights Training. Human Rights Training is mandated for all sworn staff. Other staff are encouraged to attend, in particular staff who have regular interaction with the public.

	
	Code of Conduct
	To develop a Code of Conduct to establish the standards of behaviour expected of all NZ Police employees. 
	A Code of Conduct was introduced in 2007/2008. The Code recognises the value of diversity and equity in employment, including recognition of the aims, aspirations and employment needs of Māori, other ethnic or minority groups, women, and people with disabilities.  All Police employees have received the new Code of Conduct and it is available on the New Zealand Police intranet site.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade

www.mfat.govt.nz

	UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and other human rights treaties
	To co-lead New Zealand’s involvement in the development and subsequent signing and ratification of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities.
	The Ministry has co-led work on the Convention since its attendance at the first session of the Ad Hoc Committee in 2002. All but one session of the Ad Hoc Committee negotiations since 2004 were chaired by New Zealand. [Note: New Zealand ratified the Convention on 26 September 2008.]



	
	
	
	

	Office for Disability Issues (Ministry of  Social Development)

www.odi.govt.nz

	Ratification of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of persons with Disabilities
	To lead work toward ratifying the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. 
	New Zealand signed the Convention in March 2007. Between November 2007 and May 2008 government agencies reviewed their legislation and policy for consistency with the Convention. Some legislative inconsistencies were identified. [Note: Legislation to remove some legislative inconsistencies was enacted by Parliament, and New Zealand ratified the Convention on 26 September 2008.]

	
	
	
	


	Ministry of Justice

www.justice.govt.nz

	Trusted justice system
	Ensure New Zealand’s laws and regulation do not disadvantage disabled people.
	Led the development of New Zealand’s periodic report to the UN on the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and provided input to the ratification of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. 

Ongoing vetting of new Bills under the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990.  It includes vetting for consistency with the right to be free from discrimination on the grounds of disability. 

	
	Improved access to vote
	To design the 2008 general election processes to include improved access to electoral services for disabled people.
	The Electoral agencies, including the Chief Electoral Office which is part of the Ministry of Justice, are in the process of implementing initiatives to improve access for disabled people to the enrolment process, to information about MMP and the election, and access to voting at the election. 
Refer to Elections New Zealand: Access ’08 Action Plan for details:

http://www.elections.org.nz/voting/improving-access-consultation.html


Objective 3:  Provide the best education for disabled people

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Ministry of Education

www.minedu.govt.nz

	Development of assessment tools
	To promote effective assessment for learning for children and students who require adapted curriculum because of their special education needs.


	Canterbury and Massey University have been developing and evaluating assessment exemplars [a teachers’ guide is to be reported on in November 2008]. 

Preparations are well advanced for professional learning and development support which will start in Term 4 in 2008 for six terms before repeating in other regions.

	
	Preparing teachers to work with diversity
	To circulate a consultation document Becoming a Teacher in the 21st Century for feedback in September and October 2007, and to report recommendations for change to Cabinet in early 2008.  
	Cabinet agreed in May 2008 to improvements in initial teacher education and mandated more policy work to ensure new teachers are well prepared to teach all students, including Māori and Pasifika students, and students with special education needs. 

	
	Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) guidelines


	To publish the ASD Guideline, providing evidence-based effective services and support for people with ASD.

To develop a suite of research-led, ASD-specific initiatives that address disparities in educational achievement for children and young people with ASD.


	The ASD Guideline was launched on 2 April 2008.  Ministry of Education has:

· jointly funded the development and publication of the NZ ASD Guidelines with Ministry of Health. Approximately 6,000 copies of the full Guideline and 8,000 copies of the summary were distributed

· commissioned technical reviews on Applied Behaviour Analysis (ABA) interventions for people with ASD 

· provided ASD-specific parent education programmes (jointly funded and co-purchased with the Ministry of Health)

· developed a national network of ASD Early Intervention Development projects.  Twelve project teams have been established, together supporting 57 children with ASD, their parents, whānau and early childhood education teams

· published Tips for Autism, whole team professional learning and development for those supporting primary school age students. In 2007/2008 seventy teams took part in the four-day programme for parents/whānau members, teachers, teacher aides, other school personnel and specialist service providers

· funded a three-year independent evaluation of Tips for Autism. The results of the first year are highly encouraging

· funded introductory ASD-specific professional learning and development for specialist teachers. 120 teachers took part in the three-day training modules during 2007/2008

· distributed a booklet for teachers on supporting students with ASD in classrooms. 8,000 copies of the revised edition have been distributed, and a further revision and reprint commissioned

· developed and maintained up-to-date information on ASD, available through websites and email distribution, including the main Ministry of Education website and community websites

· convened the ASD Intersectional Advisory Group and ASD Guideline Steering Group, with the Ministry of Health. Both groups met once during 2007/2008.

	
	Guidelines for schools


	To develop a guide for principals and staff to assist them to communicate with parents about the extra educational support available.


	A guide for schools providing information about extra educational support for individual students is currently in draft format. The guide provides a profile of the needs of students who may be eligible for extra support, what help is available, how to get it, and what to expect throughout the process. The guide covers a range of support areas relating to disability and will be distributed at end of 2008. 

	
	Survey on special education resourcing
	To undertake a national survey of special education resourcing to better understand the way in which this resourcing is used by schools in providing for students with special education needs. 
	The Special Education Resourcing survey has progressed in 2007/2008. Fieldworkers visited 250 schools and interviewed key stakeholders including parents, Board of Trustee members and special education teachers. The final report is expected in December 2008. The results of the Special Education Resourcing survey will provide information to inform policy development and decisions about priorities for future investment.

	
	Special education itinerant teacher evaluation tool
	To collect data at four schools using the Special Education Itinerant Teacher Evaluation (SEIT) tool, and to roll out the evaluation tool to other special education itinerant teacher programmes in 2008.
	The four schools involved in developing the SEIT Evaluation tool have continued to refine the data collection process and to collect data

The SEIT Evaluation model has been rolled out to three Auckland districts. Kelston Deaf Education Centre has also considered its relevance to their itinerant teaching service.

	
	Property modification
	To increase accessibility in schools for disabled teachers and students.
	$18.2 million allocated for special needs modifications in 131 mainstream schools.

	
	Assessment
	To amend the Board Assurance Statement (BAS) and Schools Self-Audit checklist, which is used by Boards of Trustees, and audited by ERO, to ensure schools comply with their responsibilities.  
	ERO has amended the BAS which asks whether Boards, through the principal and staff, have:

· ensured that teachers of students with disabilities, and other contact staff understand the learning needs of students with disabilities

· where necessary, put in place support systems centred on each individual with disabilities

· ensured that Special Education Grants (SEG) funding is used to benefit students with moderate special learning and behavioural needs

· ensured that funding and staffing generated by ORRS students is used for their benefit 
· provided access and facilities for disabled people to and within buildings

· anti-bullying programmes include a focus on disabled students.

	
	
	
	

	National Library of New Zealand

www.natlib.govt.nz

	Sign language policy for users and staff
	To develop a Sign Language policy.
	A Sign language Policy is being developed to meet the needs of both Deaf Library users and staff. 

Library staff were offered the opportunity to learn NZSL through “taster classes” and NZSL training onsite during New Zealand Sign Language Week held between 5 - 11 May 2008.

	
	Print disabilities collection
	To offer audio books to print disabled clients to supplement audio books available from school and public libraries. 


	The Print Disabilities Service Unit is now fully staffed with 2.8 permanent full-time equivalent staff.

A new Print Disabilities Service Librarian has been appointed. Focus has been building relationships between the new staff and clients, and other organisations eg. Royal New Zealand Foundation of the Blind.

The Collection has 13,500 audio books (tape and CD formats) with 1558 new items. The Print Disabilities Service send approximately 4000 items per month to clients with 77% or 10,500 items out on loan at any one time.


Objective 4:  Provide opportunities in employment and economic development for disabled people. 

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Ministry of Social Development

www.msd.govt.nz

	Working New Zealand
	To increase employment rates of disabled people and people with ill health on benefits through:

· better information

· benefit application improvements

· access to employment services on the same basis as other unemployed people

· developing access to health and disability services

· developing capacity of case managers

· connecting with the health and disability sector.
	Better information

A single medical certificate for Sickness Benefit and Invalids Benefit was developed. It provides more detailed information on ability to work and the steps and support required to achieve employment.

Benefit application improvements

Changes were made to make benefit application easier:

· disabled people could use existing information for determining medical eligibility for a benefit, rather than limiting it to a medical certificate

· once a person’s medical eligibility was determined the need for reassessment for many was removed.

Access to employment services 

· legislative changes (enacted 1 July 2008) allow people on the Invalids Benefit and Sickness Benefit the same access to employment services as other unemployed people

· Employment Coordinators working specifically with disabled people and people with ill health were appointed in Work and Income centres to assist disabled people and people with ill health into employment by accessing appropriate services.

· These measures enabled projects like Kai Mahi in the Bay of Plenty region which assisted 100 clients with mild psychiatric conditions to enter seasonal packhouse employment in the kiwifruit industry.

Developing access to health and disability services

· Work and Income worked collaboratively with Ministry of Health and ACC to facilitate access to a range of services that meet the needs of disabled people and people with ill health.  All these services were aimed at assisting people into employment.  These services included:

· people with mild to moderate health issues awaiting treatment provided by DHBs, PHOs, and ACC’s pain management service

· working with NGO sector to develop Life Skills for Work.

Developing capacity of Work and Income case managers

· customised disability awareness training was provided for case managers with particular emphasis on working effectively with people with mental health issues 

· staff with specialised expertise were appointed to assist case managers.  (13 Regional Disability Advisors, 13 Regional Health Advisors, a Principal Disability Advisor and a Principal Health Advisor).

Connecting with the health and disability sectors

To inform those who work with disabled people and people with ill health on Working New Zealand, and to get the sectors views:

· 13 Regional Health and Disability Coordinators were employed by Work and Income to work to provide information to groups, practice managers, hospital services and disability organisations on changes brought about by Working New Zealand

· Information was sought from primary care sector, disability organisations, unions and employer organisations, to further develop Work and Income’s strategies to increase the employment rates of disabled people and people with ill health.

Examples include:

· a Primary Care reference group which meets 4 times a year

· an Employer Disability Forum met twice to look at opportunities and challenges to employment of disabled people and the development of best practice transition process from school to adult life.

	
	
	
	

	ACC

www.acc.co.nz

	Accessible and responsive recruitment process


	To set an annual target to increase the placements of people with a disability or impairment in the organisation.
	ACC has agreed to a new recruitment and retention employment strategy which has set a 5% increase target per annum of disabled people in the organisation.


Objective 5:  Foster leadership by disabled people 

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Office for Disability Issues

(Ministry of Social Development)

www.odi.govt.nz

	Nominations service
	To have a register of appropriately skilled disabled people for nomination to government boards and committees.
	The number of people on the database has increased from 35 to 62, and 65 requests for nominees were received. Nominations were made to over half these requests. In addition, the Office has encouraged disabled people to self nominate for positions on disability advisory groups and committees at a local level, with some success.

A small number of people on the database attended director training courses provided by the Crown Company Monitoring Advisory Unit.



	
	Leadership capacity building fund
	· To support the leadership of disabled people and their families.
	The Capacity Building Fund 2007/2008 provided:

· $40,000 to disability groups to develop their regional leadership
· $37,000 to subsidise attendance at conferences/courses 

· $74,000 to produce resources that promote knowledge and participation of disabled people in:

· DHB elections 

· UN Convention on the Rights of Disabled Persons

· New Zealand Disability Strategy

· preparing funding proposals

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Women’s Affairs

www.mwa.govt.nz

	Nominations service
	To give women who are registered on the Ministry ‘s nominations database, some of whom who have identified as disabled, wider opportunities for appointment to a range of state sector boards and committees
	The number of disabled women on the Ministry of Women’s Affairs Nominations database has increased.  In the year ended June 2007, 27 out of the total database of 2,621 were disabled women.  In the year ended June 2008, 31 out of the total 2,736 were disabled women.

Two disabled women were appointed to state sector boards and committees during the year ended 30 June 2008. 


Objective 6:  Foster an aware and responsive public service 

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Office for Disability Issues

(Ministry of Social Development)

www.odi.govt.nz
	Accessible services
	To make government agencies accessible to deaf people.

	The Office for Disability Issues is facilitating a project aimed at achieving the outcome of accessible government information and services for Deaf people in New Zealand. 

The Office has contracted the Sign Language Interpreters Association of New Zealand to develop guidelines for the use of interpreters by government departments. The guidelines will contain information on how to book and how to work with interpreters. 


	
	Accessible information
	To provide information in alternative formats.
	As part of Children’s Day Action Packs, the Office made available a Braille and audio version of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities.

	Ministry of Justice

www.justice.govt.nz

	Accessible services
	Service delivery to users of Ministry services will aim to reduce barriers to participation by disabled people.
	The Ministry has developed an Interpreters’ Strategy.  It includes:

· sign language interpreters will be available in courts as part of a broader approach to deliver interpreting services in courts

· a service charter for jurors on what they can expect for jury service which will include the provision of interpreters

· a review of Ministry communications materials, covering jury service for potential jurors, summonsed jurors and the media, which will include information for disabled jurors

· collections call centres to accept New Zealand Relay calls to meet the telephone communication needs of deaf, hearing impaired and speech impaired people.

	
	
	
	

	Department of Labour

www.dol.govt.nz

	Accessible building
	To ensure the Department’s leased buildings are accessible for disabled people.
To promote accessible venues checklist and Barrier Free Checklist.
	A full audit was carried out by a Barrier Free consultant. 

Owners commissioned a design for a ramp and other accessibility enhancements that would provide acceptable access to the building.
An Accessible Venues Checklist and Barrier Free Checklist are being promoted and a Barrier Free audit has identified shortfalls to be addressed next year.


	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Fisheries

www.fish.govt.nz

	Accessible information
	To ensure online information is accessible.
	Hot keys have been added to the website and image alt tags were added across the site and table headers coded for accessibility for all new pages. 

95% of files are available in HTML. All main corporate documents are converted to HTML. Other documents (mainly scientific) have an HTML summary and a downloadable pdf. All documents are available in other formats, on request.

All information is produced in easy to read English – the aim is for a 12 year old reading level.

	
	
	
	

	ACC

www.acc.co.nz

	Accessible information
	To make ACC’s communications accessible for all in New Zealand. 
	The Communication Access Policy was implemented, setting a minimum font size, a readable font type, and encouraging the use of images, pictorial references, and plain English.

	
	
	
	

	Inland Revenue

www.ird.govt.nz

	Accessible services
	To consult with the Deaf community on the use of New Zealand Sign Language for provision of information and service delivery.
	Work is progressing to consult with the Deaf community to produce recommendations and an implementation plan by 31 December 2008. 

	
	
	
	

	Department of Building and Housing

www.dbh.govt.nz

	Accessible services and information


	To develop accessible tools for landlords and options that makes Tenancy Tribunal applications more accessible.


	An information pack, including a CD-ROM, for new landlords on managing properties effectively and giving tenants value for money, was developed and distributed to landlords during 2008.  The CD-ROM included subtitles for people with hearing impairments. Tenancy Tribunal applications can now be lodged online, making the process more accessible.

An Access Advisory Panel provides advice to the Department on accessibility issues and trends in the building sector.

	
	
	
	

	National Library of New Zealand

www.natlib.govt.nz

	Accessible buildings and information
	To redevelop the main building in Wellington and provide optimal benefits for disabled people’s access to and use of library facilities.
	The redevelopment of the Wellington building was approved in May 2008. In order to comply with all access requirements in the Building Code its features include: 

· assigned public PCs have text enlargement software

· facilities to enlarge print material on screen and/or read text

· adjustable desks to suit wheelchair users

· publicising the facilities available for disabled people on the website and in printed material.
The National Library website won the best New Zealand Plain English website award at the 2007 WriteMark New Zealand Plain English Awards.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

www.maf.govt.nz

	Accessible information
	To improve usability of the website and information across the Ministry. 
	Work has been completed on the redesign of the Biosecurity New Zealand site. An Internet site review, refresh and rebuild is scheduled for 2009-2010.

	
	
	
	

	Archives New Zealand

www.archives.govt.nz
	Accessible services
	To revise customer services processes to include disability responsiveness.
	Completed a customer training for new frontline staff that included awareness of the needs of people with disabilities.

	
	Accessible employment
	To promote equal employment opportunities.
	Participation in the Mainstream Programme which provides equal employment opportunities.

Subscription to the Relay Service for reading room visitors at Head Office which facilitates communication for people with hearing or speech impairments.

	
	
	
	

	Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet

www.dpmc.govt.nz
	Accessible buildings
	To include improvements for disabled access and facilities in the major renovations to Government House. 
	Renovations have been approved and are about to begin.  They will be compliant with New Zealand Standard NZS 4121:2001.

	
	
	
	

	State Services Commission (SSC)

www.ssc.govt.nz

	Accessible Employer
	To develop a policy to integrate equality and diversity into the strategic planning and performance of Public Service departments.
	Equality and Diversity: New Zealand Public service Equal Employment Opportunities Policy was launched in April 2008, and the SSC is actively promoting the policy and assisting departments to implement the policy.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Research, Science and Technology (MORST)

www.morst.govt.nz
	Accessible information
	To meet Web Standards version 1.0 for accessibility and ensure fire safety and evacuation procedures specify the needs of disabled people.
	The Ministry’s website was one of only 28 government sites out of the 502 tested that had no major barriers to accessibility.
Registers of all visitors at reception specify the needs of any disabled person.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry for the Environment

www.mfe.govt.nz

	Accessible information
	To use Plain English and make information accessible. 


	Training for staff and managers is ongoing and written materials are being produced. Website can be scaled to a larger font making it easier to read, without losing the overall format.

	
	
	
	

	New Zealand Police

www.police.govt.nz

	Accessible employment
	To promote the visibility of disabled staff.
	Police has a Disability Network for staff. Network members across Police districts plan their own initiatives, such as Disability Awareness Days. Disability is a standing agenda item at the monthly Equity and Diversity Network video conferences.  

Police has 11 people employed under the Mainstream Programme.

	
	Accessible services
	To be able to interact with Deaf people. 
	Currently 61 staff are trained in Sign Language.  People available with this skill are searchable on the Police staff information system. Police are supporting a West Auckland officer to learn New Zealand Sign Language because of the large Deaf community in the area (largely due to the Van Asch Deaf school).  

	
	
	
	

	Land Information New Zealand (LINZ)

www.linz.govt.nz
	Accessible services
	To use Deaf Association communication training. 
	Training has been provided for customer services staff and it is also planned for managers.

	
	Accessible information
	To make sure contracts for IT applications require accessibility for staff and/or public users.
	The LINZ procurement team requires all new software purchased to document features within their software that enables and enhances the use by disabled users.

	
	
	
	

	Sport and Recreation New Zealand (SPARC)

www.sparc.org.nz
	Accessible information
	To ensure that wherever possible SPARC web guidelines are accessible.
	SPARC has maintained accessibility to its main website in accordance with the e-government web guidelines, has provided function keys for users without a mouse, and code and text-only alternatives have also been provided.

	
	Accessible services
	To use teletext captions in the 2007/2008 year for the promotion of the national Push Play campaign.
	The 2007 and 2008 Push Play Nation and Push Play Parents campaigns included teletext captions.

	
	
	
	

	Department of Conservation (DOC)

www.doc.govt.nz

	Accessible information
	To have accessible on-line information.
	The DOC website was a finalist in the 2008 Writemark Plain English Awards, achieved a Government Web Standards and Recommendations Weighted Rating in the top quartile, and was rated above average in SSC‘s accessibility assessment.


	
	Accessible services
	To have accessible services.
	Accessibility for all DOC visitor centres are included in the Visitor Centre Service Standard which is in draft format and will be published next year.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Education

www.minedu.govt.nz
	Accessible information
	To comply with State Services Commission accessibility targets.
	A workshop on government accessibility standards has been held with the communications team.

	
	Accessible employment
	To promote the visibility of disabled staff as part of a diverse workforce in the internal agency communications.
	Internal communications promoted disability awareness and inclusion as part of a diverse workforce through staff magazine Hoetahi, email updates, and the intranet. 

	
	
	
	

	Statistics New Zealand (StatsNZ)

www.stats.govt.nz

	Accessible information
	To ensure all 2006 Census products are designed to meet web guidelines and use Plain English to improve the clarity and ease of understanding by users including disabled people.
	Met about 80 percent of the e-government web standards version 1 2007. The upgrade of the Statistics New Zealand website to be fully compliant is in progress. The structure of the website is being changed to make it more user friendly and accessible.

A staff training initiative that focuses on Plain English for Business writing skills has started.  This training programme will continue and expand in 2008/09. 



	
	Accessible services
	To promote staff understanding of New Zealand Sign Language.
	Two successful courses of New Zealand Sign Language training for staff in the Wellington Head Office were organised by staff members. 

New Zealand Sign Language interpreters were used when deaf providers were surveyed as part of the 2007/08 Respondent Load Strategy work programme.

	
	
	
	

	Te Puni Kōkiri
www.tpk.govt.nz

	Accessible information
	Upgrade Te Puni Kōkiri’s (TPK) website to:

· use Plain English and Te Reo Māori
· comply with Web Standards

· be accessible for disabled people.
	TPK website is compliant and has been user tested for accessibility.

	
	
	
	

	Department of Corrections

www.corrections.govt.nz

	Accessible services
	To ensure staff are familiar with New Zealand Relay service.
To increase the accessible car parking available near entrances at public car parks by 73%.
To increase fire alarms having flashing lights to alert hearing impaired/deaf people, by 11%.

To include procedures that specifically recognise disabled people and do not discriminate against them.

To ensure staff have knowledge of the New Zealand Relay Service, and how to place and receive calls.

To ensure disabled people can visit, work and move about independently in public prisons and carry on ordinary activities there, on the same basis as others.
	Details of the Relay Service are available on the intranet site and staff are able to access the website to obtain further information.
Achieved 72%

Achieved 10%

The Human Resource Manual has a specific appendix on People with Disabilities in the Workplace.

Details of the Relay Service and a link to their website are on the intranet site which all staff have access to.

Prisons built since 1999 are assessed with the aim to be 100% compliant. A large number of the prison buildings are pre 1991 and a gradual programme of upgrading is being followed as funding permits.  The target of 64% of all buildings and sites meeting regulatory access requirements planned for 2007-2008, was achieved.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Social Development

www.msd.govt.nz

	Accessible information
	To provide information in alternative formats.
	Children’s Day Action Packs were provided in Braille:
· advertisements for the Campaign for Action on Family Violence – Are you OK? used captions 

· Work and Income initiated discussions regarding the provision of captioned and/or New Zealand Sign Language DVDs.

	
	
	To have staff dealing with service users who are trained to understand and be responsive to disabled people’s needs.
	Work and Income has provided an overarching disability awareness / awareness of others programme based on core values and the New Zealand Disability Strategy.  The programme uses material developed by the Auckland Disability Provider Network. The programme was developed in consultation with the NGO sector.
Disability awareness training was provided for all Child, Youth and Family staff.  Local NGO groups were invited to participate in the training sessions.

	
	Accessible buildings
	To ensure buildings and sites are audited for accessibility and passed by accredited accessibility advisors.
	Universal access is a key consideration for all MSD sites. All 220 Ministry buildings and sites are regularly audited and are compliant with accessibility requirements.

	
	
	
	

	The Treasury

www.treasury.govt.nz

	Accessible buildings
	To investigate the cost and feasibility of elevator buttons with Braille labels.
	Treasury is a tenant of the building and has negotiated with the building owners to include the installation of Braille buttons as part of the current lift refurbishment due for completion October 2008.

	
	
	
	


	New Zealand Customs Service

www.customs.govt.nz
	Accessible information
	To ensure downloadable files are made available in both PDF and HTML formats for people who access the New Zealand Customs Service website.
	Files can be accessed as HTML and not PDF only. Progressively working to convert existing PDF files to HTML format.


Objective 7:  Create long-term support systems centred on the individual

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Office for Disability Issues

(Ministry of Social Development)

www.odi.govt.nz
	Review of Long-Term Disability Supports
	To lead a cross-government project to review provision of long-term disability supports (the Review) that is aimed at providing advice to government on ways to improve the disability support system.
	In August 2007, the final report from the review was provided to the Ministers for Disability Issues, Social Development and Employment, Health, ACC, Education, Labour, and Finance. 

A report to Cabinet in February 2008 outlined work already to improve the system and made further recommendations to maintain momentum. 

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Health

www.moh.govt.nz

	Allocation of funding for people under 65 years 
	To examine the allocation of support funding for people under 65 with chronic health conditions who need long-term support services but do not meet the access criteria for Ministry of Health funded Disability Support Services or District Health Board (DHB) services. 
	Allocated funding (through the Interim Funding Pool (IFP)) has been managed to address a funding and service gap in long-term support services for people under the age of 65 with chronic health conditions. Uptake of the IFP continued to increase over the 2007-2008 period. 

Subject to the capacity and capability of District Health Boards (DHBs), funding responsibility for people under 65 with disabling chronic health conditions has been allocated to DHBs. The Ministry of Health is now working with DHBs to resolve outstanding issues to progress this approach.

	
	Improvements in equipment service
	To increase the number of disabled people who can be supported to remain more safely in their home, communicate in their everyday lives and participate more in their communities.


	Ministry of Health has approved:

· changes to the funding guidelines for family vehicles for families with disabled children aged 15 years and under 

· removal of income and asset testing for modifications (such as vehicle hoists) 

· increasing the maximum amount for vehicle modification 

· separate funding consideration for vehicle purchase and/or vehicle modifications.

Funding guidelines for several new and extended services included:

· Hearing Assistive Technology; this includes visual or vibrating alert systems (e.g. visual smoke alarm) for Deaf, Deafblind and hearing impaired people to ensure that they are able to live at home safely.

· Postural Management: additional support for people with a significant physical disability.

Communication Assistive Technology:

· Increased funding for equipment and training to support people to communicate more effectively in their daily lives.

· New guidelines have been prepared and the Assistive Technology Alliance of New Zealand (ATANZ) delivered free training workshops in main centres across the country.

	
	
	
	

	ACC

www.acc.co.nz

	Early intensive rehabilitation for people with traumatic brain Injury
	To establish shorter periods of time in acute services.

To implement an earlier intensive rehabilitation phase and support.
	A service trial of the Integrated Rehabilitation Service for Adults with moderate to severe Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI) began March 2008 in the Upper North Island. The trial will set national standards to improve the effectiveness of rehabilitation for people with TBI.

	
	Rehabilitation framework
	Apply the vision of the Rehabilitation Framework for rehabilitation into the future.
	The resource Building Effective Relationship Training was developed for case managers and trialled in 2007.  Simpler assessment tools have been developed and implemented.  Both assessors and staff have been trained on the improvements.

	
	National Serious Injury Service (NSIS)
	To provide better service to clients with serious injuries.
	Implementation of the NSIS was completed. 

Guidelines for Attendant Care Support Needs for Spinal Cord Injury were ratified. 

A trial of the new Supported Employment Service began with a Waikato provider, with an initial 11 clients in the service. The Request for Proposal evaluations has been completed for a nationwide service and 14 providers have been identified as suitable. 

Referrals are progressing for the Supported Living Service, which supports clients to remain in their own home rather than enter residential care facilities. 

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Education

www.minedu.co.nz

	Professional development
	To allocate study awards to support the development of a specialist workforce that is skilled and well trained to support disabled learners in educational settings and is sufficient to meet demand.
	The following study awards have been allocated:

· 16 for full–time Teacher of the Deaf training

· 107 for part–time Resource Teacher Learning and Behaviour training

· 22 for Special Needs Teacher/Learning Support training

· 7 for part–time Resource Teacher Vision training

· 32 for part–time Early Intervention Teacher training

· 13 for part–time Advisers on Deaf Children training.

	
	Specialist service standards
	To implement specialist service standards for all Ministry-funded specialist services for accessibility and consistency in standards and services across the country.
	Service standards have been developed using a collaborative process involving a wide range of stakeholders participating in regional focus group workshops. National access criteria for the services have been developed and are being trialled.

	
	Protocols with Ministry of Health and ACC for therapy services
	To clarify roles and responsibilities around students who receive therapy services and/or equipment from either the Ministry of Health or ACC and are accessing specialist education services under Special Education 2000 policy.
	A joint project brief for the work has been agreed between the Ministers of Health and Education.


Objective 8:  Support quality living in the community for disabled people

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Ministry of Health

www.moh.govt.nz

	Care and support
	To increase the range of options available to older people regarding where they live and receive support, including improving and expanding the home based support services available to them.
	Held a series of discussions with District Health Boards (DHBs) and provider representatives on key issues for providing services for older people in the community. A report was provided to the Minister in July 2007 about DHBs progress on initiatives to increase the range of support options available to older people, including improving and expanding home– based services. The report identified further work to be undertaken in 2008/09 on service cover, which will define the minimum range of support services that should be available for older people. 
In Budget 2008, funding was committed to the implementation of a new needs assessment tool for older people accessing support services.

	
	Relapse prevention plans
	To increase the use of relapse prevention plans for adults with mental health conditions.
	Relapse prevention planning is one of the 10 health targets that are key deliverables in the Ministry of Health Statement of Intent for 2007/08.

The percentage of long–term adult clients with relapse prevention plans has increased from 50% in the first quarter of the year, to 75% in the third quarter.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Economic Development

www.med.govt.nz

	Improve New Zealand Relay Service
	To make enhancements to the New Zealand Relay Service.
	The Relay Service is being used by one bank and four other major banks are negotiating to use the service. Preparatory work has been done for a video relay service trial.

The Relay Service is increasingly used by hearing impaired people as well as Deaf people.  Work has been done to promote the availability of the NZ Relay Service to hearing impaired and the introduction of voice carry-over telephones (which are user-friendly for hearing impaired people) has led to a 25% overall increase in relay minutes used.

	
	
	
	

	Department of Building and Housing

www.dbh.govt.nz

	Guidance on accessible service counters
	To produce a booklet that provides information on good design solutions for counters and desks that can be used by people with disabilities.
	A guide to accessible reception and service counters was jointly produced with Barrier–Free Trust, and is freely available as a booklet and on-line on the Department’s website: www.dbh.govt.nz 


	
	Guidance on accessible car parking


	To produce an accessible car parking guide to enable disabled people to take part in normal everyday activities.
	A guide to accessible car parking spaces was jointly produced with Barrier Free Trust. Copies were distributed to all territorial authorities and are available as a booklet and on the Department’s website. 

	
	Review of the Building Code
	To include accessibility in the review of the Building Code which sets the legal framework for all key elements of building work.
	A comprehensive review of the Building Code as required by section 451 of the Building Act 2004 has been progressed.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Transport

www.mot.govt.nz

	NZ Transport Strategy
	To have in the revised strategy a strong focus on accessibility issues to ensure the access and mobility needs of transport disadvantaged people, including older people and people with disabilities, are met.


	The New Zealand Transport Strategy is due to be published in August 2008. A roadshow is planned for Regional Councils and their selected guests to explain and answer any questions regarding the strategy.  Feedback on accessibility (and other areas of concern) will be noted, and options for improvement will be explored further in the next update of the strategy, tentatively due to be published in 2010. Work has also started on an action plan with relevant agencies and in consultation with the disability sector.

	
	Implementation of Total Mobility Review
	The Ministry will continue to work with New Zealand Transport Agency (NZTA) to improve the accessibility of passenger transport.
	Continued implementation of the Total Mobility Review recommendations. Total Mobility provides subsidised taxi fares for people who are unable to use public transport due to the nature of their disability. Of the three implementation phases, 10 out of 15 regional councils have now signed up to phase two of the scheme which aims to improve the national consistency, monitoring processes, and quality of assessments of the scheme.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Education

www.minedu.govt.nz

	Assistive Technology Guidelines
	To review the Assistive Technology application process in 2006-2007 to enhance accessibility. 
	Assistive Technology guidelines were released in October/November 2007. Factsheets and examples were published in February 2008 to support the process. 

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Social Development

www.msd.govt.nz

	Evaluation of Pathways to Inclusion
	To conduct a Pathways to Inclusion evaluation on the five years of implementation to see if the scheme has increased participation of disabled people in employment and in their communities.


	The evaluation took place in the 2007/2008 year and found that:

· 9,000 disabled people had been placed and supported into employment, compared with a total of 3,000 disabled people at the beginning of the Pathways implementation period

· there has been a shift away from segregated work environments (previously referred to as sheltered workshops) and an increase in the number of participants in community participation and employment services

· less people were on benefit, particularly after being in the programme for 12 and 24 months 

· transition service providers for disabled students who have been identified as having high or very high needs under the Ministry of Education’s Ongoing Reviewable Resourcing Scheme have increased from 13 to over 70

· services have improved.  More have:

· services plans

· developed acceptable individual development plans for clients

· based their services on individual service users’ goals

· staff working one-to-one with service users

· service users spending time in integrated settings.

	
	Funding for Outcomes and integrated contracts for community based service providers
	To change the culture of government contracting with non government organisation social service providers in NZ through collaboration and to move contracts to a results-based reporting framework.
	There is one disability service provider working with an integrated contract. The service provider has a single contract with four government funders to provide more opportunities for people with a disability to live independently. An integrated contract with another disability organisation is being discussed.

	Office for Senior Citizens (Ministry of Social Development)
www.osc.govt.nz
	Positive Ageing Strategy
	The Strategy promotes positive ageing and is likely to have a positive affect on older people who are disabled.
	Details of the New Zealand Positive Ageing Strategy 2007–2008 and Action Plan 2008-2010 can be found on the Office for Senior Citizens website.



Objective 9:  Support lifestyle choices, recreation and culture for disabled people 

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Ministry of Culture and Heritage

www.mch.govt.nz
	TV captioning
	To provide accessible programmes for Deaf and hearing impaired people.
	At 30 June 2008, NZ on Air provided funding of $1.9million for captioning programmes on TV One, TV2 and TV3.  This is the highest investment ever.

	
	Funding of programmes of interest to disabled people
	To provide opportunities for disabled people to create, perform, and develop their own arts, and to access arts activities.
	In the year to June 2008 NZ On Air funded:

· Attitude, a 40-episode weekly series on TV One (and also online) for people with disabilities, at a cost of $1.5million

· 12 hours of coverage of the Paralympics at a cost of $350,000.

	
	
	
	

	Sport and Recreation New Zealand (SPARC)

www.sparc.og.nz

	No Exceptions Strategy
	To assist national sports organisations (NSOs) and national recreation organisations (NROs) to include disability issues within their strategic and operational plans.

To expand the number of NROs championing the No Exceptions Strategy.

To have a collaborative framework agreement on the No Exceptions Strategy between the Halberg Trust, Paralympics New Zealand, and Special Olympics.

To extend the No Exceptions District initiative. 

Use the No Exceptions Training (NET) education programme to increase the capacity of the sport and recreation sector to:

· provide accessible programmes and services to disabled people
· give disabled people choice in sport and recreation
· get better engagement with the disability community and disability agencies.
	SPARC, through the Halberg Trust, is assisting ten NSOs and one NRO to audit their practices, develop disabilities plans and monitor the implementation of those plans.
Dance Aotearoa New Zealand was added to the group of organisations championing the No Exceptions Strategy

Halberg Trust, Paralympics NZ, and Special Olympics NZ have agreed on a service delivery plan that refocuses the No Exceptions priorities.

Ruapehu District Council and Whanganui DHB signed a joint declaration for a second No Exceptions District.

NET is delivered through the Halberg Trust’s Sport Opportunity Advisor Network which is based in Regional Sports Trusts (RSTs).
Over 100 NET training sessions have been completed.

	
	Review of outdoor recreation
	To identify how to maximise the value of outdoor recreation to New Zealand and New Zealanders.
	The review has been completed. SPARC has distributed a discussion document to disability groups to get their feedback on what they consider as priorities for taking the next steps towards developing a national plan of action. 

	
	Expand Green Prescription
	A Green Prescription involves General Practitioners and practice nurses giving a “prescription” outlining activities to be done by patients whose health could benefit from increased physical activity. 
SPARC planned to expand Green Prescription services to increase the positive involvement of disabled people.
	In 2007/2008, 47% of Green Prescription patients identified as having a disability.



	
	
	
	

	Department of Conservation

www.doc.govt.nz

	Easy Access Walks
	To provide a range of outdoor activities that meet the needs and preferences of New Zealand’s various communities, including disabled people. 
	73 Easy Access walks across New Zealand are maintained and developed. Information relating to each of the Easy Access Walks was updated and republished in September 2007 and is available on the DOC website for visitors to check prior to going to the sites. Hard copies of this information are available from DOC visitor centres.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Social Development

www.msd.govt.nz

	Supporting parents with intellectual disabilities or mental health issues
	To facilitate greater interagency collaboration and improved service delivery for disabled children and young people and their families who are involved with Child, Youth and Family and the Ministry of Health's Health and Disability National Services Directorate.
	Child, Youth and Family and the Ministry of Health's Health and Disability National Services Directorate have signed a Memorandum of Understanding. A work programme was developed to support the implementation of Memorandum of Understanding. This was done in response to the Best of Care? report. 


	
	
	
	

	Department of Internal Affairs

www.dia.govt.nz

	Community Partnership Fund
	To support community projects that work to realise community aspirations through using Information and Communication Technology (ICT).
	In 2007/2008, $646,000 was allocated to nine projects for:

· information websites for people with mental illness, spinal injury, or undergoing rehabilitation
· provision of adaptive technology and advice and training on their use

· computers in homes and teleconferencing links for families with Deaf children

· satellite classes, distance learning, and home– based tuition using adaptive technology for blind and visually impaired students

· converting texts into digital talking books in the international DAISY standard book format.


Objective 10:  Collect and use relevant information about disabled people and disability issues 

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Department of Labour

www.dol.govt.nz

	Research on Return to Sustainable Earnings
	To conduct research to ensure injured people are returning to sustainable work to the maximum extent practicable. 
	The Research on Return to Sustainable Earnings was completed in July 2008 and it identified that:

· injured people were more likely not to return to work than the rest of the population

· when injured people did return they were likely to have a significant post-injury earnings loss. 


	
	
	
	

	Statistics New Zealand

www.stats.govt.nz

	Disability Survey
	To carry out a Disability Survey every five years after each Census. The information gathered will be used:

· to review the effectiveness of services for disabled people

· to help guide the development of new services. 
	Statistical and qualitative analysis of the data gathered from the Disability Survey has been carried out in partnership with the Office for Disability Issues. Information from this work is to be released in 2008/09 in six sub-reports covering a specific topic area that include Education, Employment, Transport, Māori and disability, Informal carers, and Unmet service needs.



	
	Short Social Statistic surveys


	To use short disability surveys to gather more information about disabled people within the community, as part of the Programme of Official Social Statistics.
	Two new projects started in 2007/08 and planned for field testing in 2009 are:

· The Time Use Survey 2009/10 will involve respondents keeping a diary of all their activities over a continuous 48 hour period. Follow up questions of participants’ diaries will include questioning in regard to activities relating to “looking after someone else”.

· The Family Survey 2010/11 is targeting families with dependent children and will focus on family structure and support.  

	
	2011-Census New Zealand Disability Survey
	To consult with the disability sector on the planned re-design of the post 2011-Census New Zealand Disability Survey.
	A Disability Survey Reference Group has been established to ensure as wide a consultation as is possible. Submissions have been received from a number of government departments and agencies on disability information. 

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Social Development

www.msd.govt.nz

	Cost of disability
	To research the cost of disability. 
	An Overview Report on the Costs of Disability has been prepared, outlining the additional costs that disabled people face in order to live an ordinary life. It is currently in the final stages of preparation.Two literature reviews of international models and disability discrimination have also been drafted.

	
	Living Standards Survey
	To improve our knowledge base about measuring economic standard of living of disabled people. 
	Data collected in the Living Standards Survey 2004 was used to describe the economic standard of living of disabled people across a spectrum of disability severity for the whole working-age population and for subgroups defined by family type. The report is currently in draft.

	
	Positive Ageing Indicators
	To undertake work on measuring the improvement of the situation for older people in New Zealand.
	Work is underway to develop Positive Ageing Indicators to measure the current status of older people’s living standards, and future improvements to their situation. The Indicators will be reported on every five years following each Census. 

	
	
	
	

	Office for Disability Issues

(Ministry of Social Development)

www.odi.govt.nz
	Five-year review of the New Zealand Disability Strategy implementation process.
	To report to the Minister for Disability Issues on the recommendations from the five-year review the New Zealand Disability Strategy implementation process. 
	The five-year review of the implementation of the New Zealand Disability Strategy has been completed.

Widespread consultation with disabled people and disability sector organisations was undertaken and an independent contractor undertook in-depth interviews during July – October 2007. The report is available on the Office’s website.

	
	
	
	

	Sport and Recreation New Zealand (SPARC)

www.sparc.og.nz
	NZ Sport and Physical Activity Survey
	To include disability related questions in a report on    the New Zealand Sport and Physical Activity Survey 2007-2008.
	Questions on disabilities were included in the New Zealand Sport and Physical Activity Survey 2007-2008. Data from the survey has not been released.


Objective 11:  Promote participation of disabled Māori

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Ministry of Health

www.moh.govt.nz
	Māori Provider Development Scheme
	To accelerate and improve Māori health and disability workforce development by enhancing and supporting the delivery of effective health management, administration, and clinical expertise of the Māori health and disability workforce.


	This year’s funding to support disability initiatives ($300,000) was allocated to:

· Hauora.com Trust (a national Māori workforce group) to support Māori Deaf to develop strategic and business plans and a Māori Sign Language Interpreters register 

· Ngāti Kāpo o Aotearoa to develop a website, and other initiatives

· Māori Disability Provider Network – for regular meetings and project administration 

· service integration hui in Waitemata and Auckland.

	
	Health and Independence Report
	To publish a health and independence report in partnership  with the Health Research Council that identifies disability research priorities for Māori.
	Funding has been secured for the venture.  The project is at the initial scoping stage.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Education

www.minedu.govt.nz

	Māori Education Strategy
	To ensure mainstream providers of disability services are accessible to and culturally appropriate for disabled Māori and their whānau.
	Key actions in the Ka Hikitia – Managing for Success: Māori Education Strategy are targeted at improving equity of education provision for Māori learners with special needs. 

	
	
	
	

	Te Puni Kokiri

www.tpk.govt.nz

	Building capacity of Māori disability consumer groups
	To provide grant funding to projects that help realise Māori potential. 


	The following disability projects received grant funding:

· Ngāti Kapo Aotearoa Incorporated, working with Māori who have a vision impairment to implement improvements to strengthen management and governance systems based on the findings of the 2007 review into management and governance

· Tāmaki Ngāti Kapo Inc., to promote sport and culture events for Kapo visually impaired Māori and their whānau, living in the greater Auckland area, as part of the Matariki celebrations 

· Deaf Association of NZ, to implement the Māori content of the Association’s website

· Hauora.Com Trust, to host the National Māori Deaf Conference 2008

· Te Oranga Kaumātua Kuia Disability Support Services Trust, to research and implement a cultural needs assessment model and toolkit about kaumātua and kuia elder abuse and neglect within Tāmaki Makaurau

· Sport Wanganui, to train people from Māori communities and hauora to lead activity classes and programmes for the elderly and those with disabilities.


Objective 12:  Promote participation of disabled Pacific peoples

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade

www.mfat.govt.nz

	New Zealand Agency for International Development (NZAID) and Pacific Disability Fund
	To provide support to specific disability initiatives in the Pacific region through NZAID programmes.
	A four year Grant Funding Arrangement (GFA) was signed between the Pacific Disability Fund and NZAID which covers the period 2007/08 – 2010/11 currently valued at over NZ$1.3 million.

Support provided includes:

· development of a Pacific Disabled Persons Organisation Fund aimed at supporting disability organisations, disability awareness, and national, regional, and international fora, and promoting the equal participation of women with disabilities at all levels 

· engagement with the Pacific Island Forum Secretariat Disability Coordination Officer and targeted engagement with Australia over its commitment to support disability, including blindness prevention in Asia and the Pacific.

	
	
	
	


	Ministry of Education

www.minedu.govt.nz

	Pasifika Education Plan
	The Pasifika Education Plan 2006-2010 provides a strategic direction for improving education outcomes for Pasifika peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand. It includes special education support interventions for Pasifika students.
	The Pasifika Education Plan 2006–2010 includes a section focused on Special Education for Pasifika students. In 2007, the Better Information to Address Barriers to Learning (BITABL) initiative provided better information and responses to address barriers to learning for children aged 0-8 years in early childhood education services and primary school. The Pasifika BITABL has been particularly successful in developing the Do You Know Me? resource.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Health

www.moh.govt.nz

	Articles on Pacific peoples’ health
	To publish articles on Pacific peoples’ health to inform and provide evidence for the Pacific Health and Disability Action Plan Review.
	Six Pacific articles have been published on the Ministry of Health website, as part of the Pacific Health and Disability Action Plan Review:

· Pacific Cultural Competencies

· Pacific Youth Health

· Pacific Peoples’ Experience of Disability

· Pacific Peoples and Mental Health

· Improving Quality of Care for Pacific Peoples

· Pacific Child Health.

	
	
	
	


	Ministry of Pacific Affairs

www.minpac.govt.nz

	Lui Ola – the Auckland Pacific Peoples Disability Plan
	In conjunction with the Ministry of Health and other agencies, to provide support for the Lui Ola – the Auckland Pacific Peoples Disability Plan which aims to:

· make it easier for Pacific disabled people and their carers to access services and support

· better equip service providers and government agencies to deal with Pacific clients

· reduce barriers such as language 

· have agencies work collaboratively and pool resources.
	A coordinator was contracted to facilitate an Interagency Facilitation Service that brought together ten agencies with direct and in-direct responsibility for disability services in Auckland.

Action items achieved during the 2007–2008 year:

· development of a flexible training programme for frontline agency staff

· development of a targeted, cost-effective, consumer-supported disability communications campaign 

· presence at the annual International Day of Disabled Persons celebrations

· National Pacific DIAS (Vaka Tautau) national and multi-lingual 0800 telephone service to Pacific disabled people and their families

· information pamphlets produced and translated into three Pacific languages and made available throughout Auckland.


Objective 13:  Enable disabled children and youth to lead full and active lives  

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Centre for Housing Research New Zealand (CHRANZ)

www.chranz.co.nz
	Housing needs of children
	To investigate the housing needs of children and young people, including disabled children.
	· CHRANZ published two reports:
· Children’s and Young people’s Housing Experiences: Issues and Scoping Paper- this research investigated the connections between children and young people’s social, cultural and economic outcomes and their housing circumstances.

· Access to Safe and Secure Housing for at Risk and Vulnerable Young People – this research investigates the alignment between the housing sector and the housing needs of vulnerable and at risk young people, including those with disabilities.

	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Social Development

www.msd.govt.nz

	Five-Year Action Plan for Out of School Services (OSCAR) for disabled children
	To improve access to Out of School Services (OSCAR) for disabled children as part of a Five-Year Action Plan.
	The Five-Year Action Plan for Out of School Services was released for public consultation in June 2007. The Plan includse proposals to:

· improve the accessibility and affordability of OSCAR for disabled children and young people and their families

· provide subsidies and grants for approved small-scale and home– based services

· provide subsidies to all families to all families who earn less than a certain amount and use approved OSCAR, regardless of their employment status

· fund an inclusion Support programme for disabled children and young people and those at risk of poor outcomes. 

	
	Early Years Intervention approach
	To recognise the value of intervening as early as possible to support better outcomes for families and their children, including those with disabled children.

To use a coordinated approach for early intervention for families with disabled children, involving government departments, the non-government sector and local communities.


	Families with disabled children are accessing services and support under Strengthening Families and Family Start on the same basis as other families. An online reporting tool is being developed so information can be accessed regularly.

Family and Community Services met with Ministry of Health officials to discuss opportunities to increase the awareness of families with children with disabilities about Strengthening Families, and the coordinated multi agency support around families. Information on Strengthening Families, as well as a link to the Strengthening Families website, have been placed on the Ministry of Health’s Disability Services web pages.

	
	Interagency collaboration between Child, Youth and Family and the Ministry of Health.
	To facilitate greater interagency collaboration and improved service delivery for disabled children and young people and their families who are involved with Child, Youth and Family and the Ministry of Health.
	A joint Child, Youth and Family and Ministry of Health work programme has been developed in response to The Best of Care? review of the interface between the two agencies. The programme will provide advocacy for disabled children and young people.


Objective 14:  Promote participation of disabled women in order to improve their quality of life    

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement

	Ministry of Women’s Affairs

www.mwa.govt.nz

	Strong and Safe Communities – Effective Interventions for Adult Victims of Sexual Violence
	The project aims to:

· reduce the impact and incidence of violence against women (sexual violence and family violence)

· find out what interventions work for adult victims of sexual violence

· explore issues relating to young women that may set them on a pathway of disadvantage and marginalisation. 
	A workshop was convened with the help of the Disabled People’s Assembly in October 2007 for stakeholders representing disabled people, to outline the project’s aims and approach, and to hear the views of disabled people about sexual violence issues and the research approach of the project.

A summary report on the discussion is on the Ministry of Women’s Affairs website: 

http://www.mwa.govt.nz/our-work/svrproject 


Objective 15:  Value families, whänau and people providing ongoing support    

	Agency
	Project
	Project Aim
	Achievement
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	Autism spectrum guideline allocation of funding
	To develop criteria for the allocation of funding to implement the ASD guideline, and ensure that disabled people, family, whänau and those who support disabled people are given an opportunity to have an input into decisions.
	The New Zealand Autism Guideline was launched on 2 April 2008. The Guideline group was contracted to establish an implementation advisory group to develop criteria for the allocation of funding to implement the ASD Guideline. The group is made up of people who experience ASD, their families and whänau, and people working in the sector.
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	Carers Strategy
	To develop a Carers’ Strategy as an important first step in acknowledging the very real difference carers make in people’s lives.
	The New Zealand Carers’ Strategy and Five-year Action Plan was published in April 2008. The Strategy was developed in a partnership between government agencies and the New Zealand Carers Alliance, a network of over 40 non-governmental organisations. Public consultation was held from July to September 2007 on the views of carers, those they care for, employers, and wider society. Issues identified included improving support for carers, improving information about caring, and helping carers to combine employment and caring responsibilities.

Cabinet directed officials to report on progress of the Carers’ Strategy, annually. 


PAGE  
7

